I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner is defendant James P. Ryan ("Ryan"). 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Ryan seeks review ofthe decision filed by Division Three of the 

Washington State Court of Appeals on March 19, 2015, No. 31837-1-111. 

A copy of the published 2-1 decision is appended to this Petition. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Should the court consider the alleged actionable statements 

when determining whether the statements are submitted in connection 

with an issue of public concern pursuant to Washington's anti-SLAPP 

statute, RCW 4.24.525(2)( d)? 

2. Does RCW 4.24.525(2)(d) provide that speech may be 

submitted in connection with an issue of public concern even if the 

speaker has a personal interest in making the statement? 

3. Where Washington and foreign courts use "public concern" 

and "public interest" interchangeably, is California case law interpreting 

its anti-SLAPP statute persuasive in our courts? 

4. Where a statement is submitted in connection with an issue 

of public concern, and the responding party fails to submit clear and 

convincing evidence ofthe probability of prevailing on her claims, should 

the court dismiss the complaint pursuant to RCW 4.24.525? 



IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Procedural History 

Ryan owns a website, "Civic Doody", which serves as a public 

forum for discussion related to Spokane Civic Theatre, particularly 

regarding Executive Director Yvonne A.K. Johnson's ("Johnson") and the 

Board of Directors' leadership ofthe community theatre. CP 80. 

Johnson filed suit against Ryan on April 5, 2013, alleging that 

Ryan is liable for defamation and intentional interference with a business 

expectancy because of Ryan's postings on the website. CP 3-6. Johnson 

sought permanent injunctive relief for the removal of Civic Doody and 

any related sites, and to restrain Ryan from any future internet postings on 

the topic. CP 5-6. 

On June 21, 2013, the trial court, Honorable Gregory D. Sypolt 

presiding, granted Ryan's Special Motion to Strike Johnson's Complaint 

pursuant to RCW 4.24.525. CP 140-42. The trial court dismissed 

Johnson's Complaint and awarded Ryan attorneys' fees and statutory 

damages of $10,000. !d. 

On March 19,2015, Division Three ofthe Washington State Court 

of Appeals, in a 2-1 decision, reversed the order dismissing Johnson's 

Complaint and remanded the matter to the trial court. Ryan seeks review 

of the Court of Appeals' decision. 
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B. Civic Not Only Provides for Comprehensive Public Participation, 
but Also Depends on Community Involvement for Its Survival. 

Johnson served as the Executive Artistic Director of Spokane Civic 

Theatre, a non-profit community theatre fondly called "Civic" by the 

surrounding community. CP 27. Civic's official mission is "to foster and 

operate a volunteer live community theatre of high artistic merit." /d. 

Civic, dubbed "Your National Award-Winning Community 

Theatre", encourages public participation in many different aspects. CP 

33. Most obviously, Civic depends on public patrons for its productions. 

However, revenue from programming only covers 50% of Civic's 

operating costs, so Civic "depend[s] on the support and commitment of 

our community to make up the essential difference." CP 29. Perhaps 

most notably, Civic is not a professional theatre. Rather, it relies on more 

than 1,000 public volunteers, serving an estimated 55,000 hours a year, as 

actors, crew, house managers, ushers, and board members. CP 27. These 

individuals are not paid for their time, so "the enthusiastic participation of 

performers is crucial" to Civic's success. CP 51. Civic also has a history 

of both social and theatrical activities, and a "tradition of public 

education." CP 27. Johnson states that Civic is "cognizant of its role in 

challenging the community's intellect and in pushing the boundaries of 

creativity and artistic expression." CP 85. 
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C. Johnson Is an Admitted Public Figure. 

It is undisputed that Johnson is a public figure. RP 11. She 

"[r]epresent[s] the theatre to the community." CP 37. She oversaw all 

theatrical productions associated with Civic, was extensively involved 

with public fundraising (including directing benefits and producing a 

documentary on Civic that aired on PBS), increased audience participation 

(by over 1 00% ), and provided community outreach and development for 

various clubs and organizations. CP 37-41. Johnson has been featured in 

the media, and when she was hired, the public was invited to a welcome 

reception in her honor. CP 47-53. In Johnson's words, she was 

"responsible for every dollar and every word at the theater." CP 53. 

D. Johnson Terminated Ryan After Concluding That His Sexual 
Interests Outside of His Marriage Created a Public Scandal for 
Civic Sufficient to Cause Its Ruin. 

Johnson, who was responsible for all aspects of employee 

relationships, including hiring and termination, hired Ryan in 2010 as a 

full-time music director, a noteworthy position that she created. CP 37, 

51, 81. Civic received an anonymous email disclosing the mutually non-

monogamous nature of Ryan's marriage. CP 81. He was subsequently 

terminated. CP 83-86. In her separation letter to Ryan, Johnson cited the 

public standards and decorum for theatre representatives and the public's 

essential involvement and support as the basis for his termination: 
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You know how dependent we are upon the good will of the 
local community in the greater Spokane metropolitan area. 
The Theatre exists and thrives only because of local 
support. Local ticket sales, local donations, and local 
volunteers are the lifeblood for our not-for-profit and 
growing civic theatre .... The Theatre could have and still 
can go down in financial flames because of what you have 
done. All of our hard work could be lost to public scandal 
and the Theatre could dwindle into obscurity. That is what 
you have done, Jim. That is the magnitude of the potential 
harm. 

CP 84. Civic later challenged Ryan's unemployment claim by submitting 

Johnson's separation letter to the state government agency Employment 

Security Department (ESD). CP 125-26. 

E. Civic Doody Includes Commentary and Criticism About Johnson 
in Her Leadership Role at Civic. 

Ryan started Civic Doody and learned that there was great breadth 

and depth of community frustration with the leadership of Civic, including 

widespread public opinion that Johnson's autocratic leadership style was 

detrimental to Civic and the Spokane community. CP 81-82. After he 

was terminated, Ryan remained connected to the theatre community and 

continued to receive reports about Civic and Johnson from others. CP 82. 

Civic Doody provides commentary, criticism, and information related to 

Civic, Johnson's leadership, and Spokane arts and entertainment. CP 80-

81. 
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F. Johnson Alleges that Ryan's Written Statements About Johnson's 
Representations in a Government Proceeding Are Defamatory. 

At issue are written statements about Civic and Johnson on July 5, 

2011. Ryan denied Johnson's inaccurate characterization of his pre-

termination actions, and, after an investigation, ESD agreed and found no 

misconduct on Ryan's part and that he was entitled to benefits. CP 122-

23. Ryan's July 5 posting covered the proceeding and its result, concluded 

that Johnson was not acting in the best interest of Civic and had caused it 

irreparable harm, called for Johnson's termination, and asked that Civic's 

Board be held accountable. CP 106-07. The specific written statement at 

ISSUe IS: 

In the course of fighting my claim, Ms. Johnson submitted 
false statements to the Unemployment Security department, 
in the form of my official separation letter. She had not 
previously provided this document to anyone other than 
myself. She has now opened the theater to further charges 
of defamation, as well as to charges of making 
demonstrably false statements to a government agency, 
should Washington State wish to pursue that. 

CP 95, 100-01. 

Johnson alleges that this statement is actionable because 

the ESD cover page for Johnson's official separation letter is 

signed by the theatre's Managing Director. CP 125-26. Johnson 

"administer[s] grievance and termination procedures." CP 37. 
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She did not submit any evidence that her letter was sent to ESD 

without her involvement or authorization, or that Ryan knew this. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Affects Issues of Substantial 
Public Interest, Presents Significant Constitutional Questions, and 
Conflicts with Prior Washington Case Law. 

Pursuant to RAP 13 .4(b )(2)-( 4 ), the Court should accept review of 

this case ( 1) to ensure that issues of substantial public interest and 

Constitutional free speech are properly addressed by interpreting "in 

connection with an issue of public concern" pursuant to RCW 

4.24.525(2)(d) and furnishing an accurate and feasible framework for its 

application, and (2) to resolve the conflict between the decision of the 

Court of Appeals and Washington case law as to the scope of "public 

concern." 

RCW 4.24.525 (20 1 0) outlines an early-resolution, two-step 

analysis for special motions to strike baseless lawsuits involving free 

speech and other First Amendment activities. First, "[a] moving party ... 

has the initial burden of showing by a preponderance of the evidence that 

the claim is based on an action involving public participation and 

petition." RCW 4.24.525(4)(b). An "action involving public 

participation and petition" includes "[a]ny oral statement made, or written 

statement or other document submitted, in a place open to the public or a 
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public forum in connection with an issue of public concern." RCW 

4.24.525(2)(d). Second, ifthe claim is based on action involving public 

participation and petition, then the burden shifts to the responding party to 

show by clear and convincing evidence the probability of prevailing on 

her claim. 

The Court of Appeals erred in its interpretation and analysis of 

RCW 4.24.525(2)( d). First, regardless of the meaning of "public 

concern", RCW 4.24.525(2)(d) requires consideration ofthe statements at 

issue. Second, a speaker's motivation is not relevant in determining 

whether a statement is submitted in connection with an issue of public 

concern under RCW 4.24.525(2)(d). Third, the use of"public concern," 

rather than "public interest", in RCW 4.24.525(2)(d) does not render 

California case law interpreting its anti-SLAPP statute unpersuasive. 

The decision's effect on public interest and Constitutional free 

speech is evident. In the statute's passing, the Legislature was "concerned 

about lawsuits brought primarily to chill the valid exercise of the 

constitutional rights of freedom of speech and petition for the redress of 

grievances." LAWS of2010, ch. 118 § 1. The Legislature intended for 

RCW 4.24.525 to be "construed liberally to effectuate its general purpose 

of protecting participants in public controversies from an abuse use of the 

courts." !d. at§ 3. 
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The Court of Appeals' decision contravenes this directive with a 

narrow construction ofthe anti-SLAPP statute in which the content, and 

consequently the context, of the speech at issue is disregarded in favor of 

the speaker's alleged intent. As a result, the Court of Appeals severely 

limited the availability of RCW 4.24.525(2)( d) as a basis for the efficient 

and speedy adjudication of other meritless lawsuits designed to chill free 

speech. See State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) 

(issue of substantial public interest when opinion affects not only parties 

to instant proceeding, but other proceedings as well). 

Publication by the Court of Appeals reflects its belief that its 

opinion is subject to review by this Court. See RAP 12.3(d) (minimum 

criteria for publishing Court of Appeals decisions). This Court should 

conclude the same. 

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Wholly Fails to Consider the 
Alleged Actionable Statements. 

Interpretation and application of the public concern requirement in 

RCW 4.24.525(2)(d) is a matter of first impression for this Court. The 

Court of Appeals cites Alpine Indus. Computers, Inc. v. Cowles Pub/ 'g 

Co., 114 Wn. App. 371, 57 P.3d 1178 (2002) and White v. State, 131 

Wn.2d 1, 929 P.3d 396 (1997), both ofwhich support a finding ofpublic 

concern here, in adopting a rule that a court should analyze content, 
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context, and form, 1 with content being the most important factor for 

determining public concern. (Decision pp. 14-16.) Yet, the Court of 

Appeals then wholly fails to consider- or even mention- the alleged 

actionable statements.2 Instead, the "majority cherry picks a few 

sentences of Ryan's prose, omits a review of the complete blogs, and 

ignores the backgrounds ofthe Spokane Civic Theatre and Yvonne 

Johnson." 3 (Dissent p. 24.) 

Speech is of public concern when it can "be fairly considered as 

relating to any matter of political, social, or other concern to the 

community." Davis, 180 Wn. App. at 531 (citation omitted). 

The only statement alleged to be actionable is from July 5, 2011: 

In the course of fighting my claim, Ms. Johnson submitted 
false statements to the Unemployment Security department, 
in the form of my official separation letter. She had not 
previously provided this document to anyone other than 

1 The Court of Appeals correctly concludes that all of Civic Doody is in 
a public forum. (Decision p. 11.) 

2 In this regard, the Court of Appeals' decision mirrors Johnson's 
Complaint, in which she also failed to identify an actionable statement. Johnson 
instead sought both to shut down Civic Doody and to restrain future speech. CP 
1-6. As the dissent points out, "a prayer for injunctive relief to preclude the 
defendant from speaking is a factor favoring granting an anti-SLAPP motion to 
strike." (Dissent p. 27 (citing Davis v. Cox, 180 Wn. App. 514, 523, 325 P.3d 255 
(2014), review granted at 182 Wn.2d 1008 (2014)).) 

3 The Court of Appeals cites two Civic Doody entries, one from 
November 14, 2011 and another from February 8, 2013, after the alleged 
actionable statement on July 5, 2011. (Decision pp. 5-6.) 

10 



myself. She has now opened the theater to further charges 
of defamation, as well as to charges of making 
demonstrably false statements to a government agency, 
should Washington State wish to pursue that. 

CP 95, 100-01. The Court of Appeals did not consider the content or 

context ofthis statement about Johnson's stewardship of Civic. Ryan 

filled Johnson's newly created position of Music Director to further 

Civic's public mission. CP 51, 81. That Johnson made certain untrue 

representations to a governmental agency, ESD,4 by way of Ryan's 

separation letter, and that ESD subsequently found in Ryan's favor, are 

exactly the type of leadership decisions that are of concern to the 

community: the donors, the patrons, and the public volunteers who worked 

side by side with Johnson and Ryan. (See also Dissent pp. 24-27.) 

Johnson, an admitted public figure, was charged with representing 

Civic to the public and publicly carrying out its mission of creating a 

community theatre comprised of public volunteers to stage and star in its 

productions. The Court of Appeals agrees that protected public speech 

would include issues about an "executive director of a theatre that depends 

on public participation and donations [who] has a tyrannical management 

4 See RCW 4.24.525(1 )(d), (2)(b )-(c), where any written statement in 
connection with an issue under consideration in a governmental agency 
proceeding falls within an "action involving public participation and petition." 
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style." (Decision p. 20.) Civic's and Johnson's challenge of Ryan's 

unemployment claim fits squarely within this category of public speech. 

By failing to consider the alleged actionable statements, the Court 

of Appeals' decision misguides lower courts on how to evaluate the 

content and context of speech for its public concern connection. Trial 

courts are now encouraged to disregard the speech and focus on alleged 

intent, contrary to Washington precedent and the legislative history of 

RCW 4.24.525, and discussed in the following section. 

C. The Court of Appeals Improperly Concludes that a Personal 
Interest Precludes Speech From Being Submitted in Connection 
With an Issue of Public Concern. 

In lieu of evaluating Ryan's July 5, 2011 statement, the Court of 

Appeals erroneously focused on Ryan's alleged motivation behind Civic 

Doody, even though the Legislature removed a "good faith" requirement 

from the original version of RCW 4.24.525 and this Court has expressly 

held that a person's self-interest in making a statement does not convert a 

matter of public concern into a private dispute. 

The Court of Appeals held that "[t]he primary intent of [Ryan's] 

speech is not some lofty public good, but merely establishing that his 

employer was wrong in firing him." (Decision pp. 19-20.) The Court of 

Appeals relies on Tyner v. Dep 't of Social & Health Serv., 137 Wn. App. 

545, 557, 154 P.3d 920 (2007) (quoting Edwards v. Dep 't ofTransp., 66 
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Wn. App. 552, 832 P.3d 1332 (1992)), where Division Two noted that 

"[t]he speaker's intent is also a factor -'[w]as the employee acting as an 

aggrieved employee, attempting to rectify problems in the employee's 

working environment, or was he or she acting as a concerned citizen 

bringing a wrong to light."' 

Tyner, as the dissent explains, is not an anti-SLAPP case, or even a 

defamation case. (Dissent pp. 22-23.) Rather, it involves a public 

employee's claim that she was retaliated against because of free speech. 

The differences between the application ofthe anti-SLAPP statute and the 

test for public employee free speech are noteworthy. RCW 4.24.525 has a 

legislative mandate for liberal application for the general public, as 

opposed to the government's interest in regulating the speech of its 

employees. Moreover, a party alleging public concern in the government 

employer context has a much higher burden to meet, since he or she must 

show "public concern" as a matter of law rather than by a preponderance 

ofthe evidence. RCW 4.24.525(4)(b). 

While government employer cases may be helpful in an analysis of 

anti-SLAPP cases, they may also be misapplied, as occurred here when 

the Court of Appeals relied upon Tyner for the adoption of an intent-based 

rule. The Legislature removed any "good faith" reporting requirement 

from RCW 4.24.525 in 2002, noting that in doing so it was bringing 
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"Washington law ... in line with these court decisions which recognize [] 

that the United States Constitution protects advocacy to government, 

regardless of content or motive, so long as it is designed to have some 

effect on government decision making." Bailey v. State, 147 Wn. App. 

251,262, 191 P.3d 1285 (2008) (quoting LAWS of2002, ch. 232 § 1). The 

Legislature did not resurrect the good faith requirement when it amended 

RCW 4.24.525 to include statements submitted in connection with an 

issue ofpublic concern in 2010.5 

Furthermore, in Tyner, "intent" is discussed in the context of 

reaching out to an audience. As that court noted, but what the Court of 

Appeals omitted, was that the speech could have been on a matter of 

public concern but instead was submitted to a single person: "Sexual 

5 The Court of Appeals correctly notes that Washington's original anti
SLAPP law ( 1989) provided immunity for claims based on "good faith 
communication with the government" (Decision p. 7), but neglects to mention 
that the Legislature removed the requirement from RCW 4.24.525 in 2002. At 
that time, the Legislature added language that a finding of "bad faith" still 
warranted dismissal of the suit, but limited the availability of statutory damages. 
Lowe v. Rowe, 173 Wn. App. 253, 262, 294 P.3d 6 (2012) (affirming dismissal of 
defamation claim where defendant was "mad" at plaintiff and "expected 
payment", but since "motivation [was] up in the air", there was a question as to 
whether statutory damages were available to the defendant); see also Michael 
Eric Johnston, A Better SLAPP Trap: Washington State's Enhanced Statutory 
Protection for Targets of "Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation", 38 
GONZ. L. REv. 263, 282, 285-86 (2003) (noting the statute was more of a 
whistleblower immunity statute). The Legislature later removed the bad faith 
limitation on the recovery of statutory damages, which should alleviate any doubt 
as to whether the intent of the speaker controls, or is even relevant, under RCW 
4.24.525. 
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harassment within a workplace could very well constitute a matter of 

public concern; but, as we stated in Wilson, a comment addressed solely to 

an internal audience without any intent to bring it to the public's attention 

does not constitute a matter of public concern." Tyner, 137 Wn. App. at 

553, 558 (citation omitted). There was no intent to bring a wrong to light 

in Tyner, but it is undisputed that Ryan intended to bring examples of 

Johnson's autocratic leadership and questionable decisions to the public's 

attention. 

That the Court of Appeals misapplied Tyner is further supported by 

a review of the precedent upon which Tyner relies for consideration of 

"intent." In that case, Edwards, 66 Wn. App. at 556, the government 

employee admitted that the sole reason for his speech about a public works 

project was his worry about potential similar problems in his own

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