RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
May 18, 2015, 11:05 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 91640-3

E CRF
RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III
CASE NO. 31837-1-III

YVONNE A.K. JOHNSON, a single person,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES P. RYAN, a married individual,

Petitioner.

**JOHNSON'S ANSWER TO
PETITION FOR REVIEW**

ROBERT A. DUNN, WSBA #12089
SUSAN C. NELSON, WSBA #35637
DUNN BLACK & ROBERTS, P.S.
111 North Post, Suite 300
Spokane, WA 99201
(509) 455-8711
Attorneys for Respondent

 ORIGINAL

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

E. Civicdoody.com And/Or Theyrannyofyvonne.com.

Within two weeks of his termination, Ryan initiated his vituperative campaign of personal attacks against Ms. Johnson by creating the online blogs "**theyrannyofyvonne**" and "**civicdoody**." CP 3-4. The civicdoody blog is accessed by anyone attempting to access <http://spokanecivictheater.org>; <http://spokanecivictheatre.org>; or <http://www.spokanecivictheatre.org>, assuming that would be the correct domain." CP 4; 64 at fn.1; 81; 97. Accordingly, anyone who mistakenly searches for the Civic Theatre's legitimate website by utilizing one of the

⁹ On 10/22/10 Ryan emailed his termination letter to 50+ individuals highlighting and responding to certain sections therein. In doing so, Ryan admitted (1) he had referenced his workplace in his solicitations for sex; (2) sent sexy email/texts from backstage; (3) used his theatre photo in soliciting sex; and (4) offered to show the solicitation communications, and did indeed share a nude photo with other theatre employees. These admissions seriously belie Ryan's contentions that Johnson "*lied*" in his termination letter. This email was obtained by Johnson via discovery conducted in her wrongful termination suit against the Civic Theatre and is attached hereto as **Appendix C**.

above addresses was immediately routed by his design to Ryan's online addresses. CP 4, 81.

The overall thrust and dominant theme of Ryan's blogging sites are pointedly and vociferously related to his personal claim that he was wrongfully terminated in breach of his employment contract, thereby entitling him to either reinstatement or to a severance package. E.g.:

"I continued the work of seeking justice for my family, as I have done for the last sixteen months."; "I am waging an all-out public relations war against Civic."; "I simply have no intention of allowing Ms. Johnson or Civic's 'board of directors' to put this behind themselves until we are able to do the same."; "I don't care. I just want what's owed to me and my family so that we can walk away from this nightmare and never give it another thought..."; "I want the Board of Directors to have realized that this was not just another termination, but rather an epic error... that would have terrible long-term consequences."; "A modest severance payout would have gotten rid of us."; "I'm not looking for a pot of gold. I'm looking for what I'm owed."¹⁰

Unquestionably, Ryan's incessant incendiary, vicious, and spiteful postings were personal rants. CP 7-14.

In his blogged tirades Ryan blatantly accused Johnson of criminal dishonesty in a governmental hearing; namely submitting false statements

¹⁰ Civicdoody.com 2/22/12 blogpost "The Negotiation That Wasn't;" 5/1/12 blogpost "Extreme Isolation;" 2/1/13 blogpost "Next to Normal;" Id.; 10/2013 blogpost "The Complete Civic Doody Retrospective" Part II: What I Want; and Id.

to the government a claimed act by Johnson that is patently false. This constituted defamation per se by Ryan.

“In the course of fighting my claim, Ms. Johnson submitted false statements to the Unemployment Security Department, in the form of my official separation letter. ...She has now opened the theater to... charges of making demonstrably false statements to a government agency, should Washington State wish to pursue that.” CP 106-107; “...you should know that in addition to the outright lies submitted to the State of Washington by Civic in my official separation letter....”

CP 106-8. Likewise, Ryan accused Johnson of unlawful conduct:

“She and board president... proceeded to spread defamatory insinuations about the reason for our termination.”; “she made Civic an accomplice in the attack that was waged against my family.”; “she reacted to it by actually defaming me... when she told people I was fired to protect the children.”¹¹

Further, Ryan’s blogged entries intentionally exposed Johnson to hatred, contempt, and ridicule with the express purpose of depriving her of the benefit of public confidence as well as to injure her professionally:

“It is terrible for Spokane audiences who will see a show that was directed by a person utterly lacking in empathy and humanity.” CP 12; “‘I think it changes lives,’ Johnson said. One thing is for sure: she’s good at changing them for the worse. She destroyed ours.” Id.; “the failure of the Spokane Civic Theatre community to do anything about a leader they know to be narcissistic, dictatorial, and malevolent”; “dishing out in her megalomaniacal lust for power and personal glorification”; “if you lack the

¹¹ Thetyrannyofyvonne.com 10/24/10 blogpost “Unnecessary Escalation” Appx. B; Civicdood.com 8/22/11 blogpost “Taking a Stand;” 5/2013 blogpost “I’ve Been Served.”

personal fortitude required to spend vast amounts of time worshipping at the altar of a narcissistic maniac”; “The board knows that they just got rid of a lunatic.”¹²

Ryan’s assertion that Johnson failed to submit evidence substantiating he did not know the Employment Security Department documents were sent by someone other than her fails – the document at issue evidences it was clearly executed by another Civic employee. CP 125-26.

After being terminated, Ryan filed a meritless lawsuit against the Civic Theatre for breach of contract seeking damages in the form of back pay, front pay, attorney fees and costs. Ryan v. Spokane Civic Theatre, Spokane Superior Court Cause No. 12-2-02311-0. Ryan’s spurious suit was dismissed on summary judgment on or about 2/10/13. CP 96, 104.

Once Ryan’s suit against the Civic Theatre was dismissed, his campaign of vicious personal attacks upon Ms. Johnson increased in volume and intensity. *“This was their best chance to make this go away without spending money. It was handled by their insurance company and had the potential to end this all with a settlement and a non-disclosure agreement.”* CP 104-105. Ryan’s cyberbullying escalated to the extent it became even more antagonistic and vicious toward Johnson, causing her

¹² Civicdoody.com 7/25/11 blogpost “Professional Apples & Community Oranges;” 10/17/11 blogpost “One Year Later;” 1/16/12 blogpost “Yet Another Victim;” 10/2013 blogpost “The Complete Civic Doody Retrospective” Part II: What I Want.

great harm and distress. CP 102. Thus, on 4/5/13, Ms. Johnson filed suit against fired employee Ryan alleging defamation and tortious interference with business relations as a result of his cyberbullying. CP 3-6.

On 5/31/13, Ryan filed an anti-SLAPP motion seeking dismissal of Johnson's civil suit alleging that his online postings, via civicroody.com, were intended to provide a public forum for "*discussion and dissemination of commentary, complaints, and general information related to Spokane Civic Theatre.*" CP 60, 64¹³. Ryan supported his anti-SLAPP motion by asserting that his online cyber-conduct addressed matters of "*public concern,*" as evidenced by Internet traffic the blog purportedly received. Yet, Ryan's postured pleadings are in direct contravention to the prior and ongoing public assertions he made that his battle against Johnson was "*personal,*" all of which he communicated to a "*small*" audience as opposed to the "*general public*" for his own "*psychological and emotional purposes.*"¹⁴

On 6/21/13, Spokane County Superior Court Judge Gregory D. Sypolt nonetheless entered an Order granting Ryan's anti-SLAPP motion and dismissal. CP 140-42. The Order awarded Ryan statutory damages of

¹³ Ryan's assertions are belied by his 10/24/10 theyrannyofyvonne.com blog post where he openly solicited negative comments and participation against Yvonne in order to strengthen claims he was unlawfully terminated. See **Appx. B**.

¹⁴ [Civicroody.com](http://civicroody.com) 10/2013 blogpost "The Complete Civic Doody Retrospective", **Part I: Why I Did This**, (originally published 8/13/13); 7/19/13 blogpost "One Week Later...."

\$10,000, as well as attorney fees and costs. CP 166. The Trial Court entered the anti-SLAPP Order despite the fact that the true goal of Ryan's blogging was personal vengeance and gain. "*Occasionally, some well-meaning person will suggest that I'm 'never going to get anything out of them,' and that I should move on for my own well-being. ...the truth is this: It has never once – not once – occurred to me that I will not get the justice I seek.*" CP 7. "*Now its going to cost serious money if they ever want to end this.*" CP 10. "*Ironically, this is likely a huge disappointment for Yvonne A.K. Johnson and Civic's 'board of directors.'* *This was their best chance to make this go away without spending money... and had the potential to end this all with a reasonable settlement and a non-disclosure agreement.*" CP 11.

Thus, by his own admission, Ryan's blogging was at all times centered on his personal, private vendetta and conflict with former supervisor Ms. Johnson. *Id.* It was this personal campaign which Ryan orchestrated to make publicly known his grievance in order to seek personal vengeance – and not for any "*public concern.*" *Id.* An appeal to Division III ensued which reversed the Trial Court. *Johnson v. Ryan*, 346 P.3d 789 (Wash. Ct. App. 2015).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. **Ryan Identifies No Significant Question Of Constitutional Law Or Issue Of Substantial Public Interest Warranting Supreme Court Review.**

Ryan blatantly ignores both precedent from this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court when arguing this Court must interpret “*in connection with an issue of public concern.*” See White v. State, 131 Wn.2d 1, 11 (1997); Meyer v. Univ. of Wash., 105 Wn.2d 847, 851 (1986); and Snyder v. Phelps, 131 S. Ct. 1207 (2011). Indeed, for the past 28 years, Washington courts have decided whether speech is ‘of public concern’ by adopting the U.S. Supreme Court’s test from Connick v. Meyers, 461 U.S. 138 (1983). See Edwards v. Dep’t of Transp., 66 Wn. App. 552, 560 (1992).

Moreover, Ryan’s assertion that conflict exists between the divisions as to the scope of “public concern” is likewise misplaced and misstated. The decision at issue here is fully in harmony with Division I and Division II decisions. See Edwards v. Dep’t of Transp., 66 Wn. App. 552, 560 (1992); Wilson v. State, 84 Wn. App. 332, 342-46 (1996); Harrell v. Washington State ex rel. Dep’t of Soc. Health Servs., 170 Wn. App. 386, 406-07 (2012); Alaska Structures, Inc. v. Hedlund, 180 Wn. App. 591, 599 (2014). Ryan has not and cannot demonstrate a “conflict” justifying this Court’s review.

Finally, the Court of Appeals' decision does not contravene the existing legislative directive that courts apply and construe the anti-SLAPP Act "*liberally to effectuate its general purpose of protecting participants in public controversies from an abusive use of the Courts.*" Petition, pp. 8-9 (emphasis added). The facts of this case make clear the parties here were engaged solely in a private employment grievance; that no public controversy existed; and that Washington's anti-SLAPP statute has no applicability to this matter.

B. The Court Of Appeals Did Not Err In Deciding The Question Of Public Concern Based Upon Factors Including Content, Form, And Context In Light Of The Entire Record.

Ryan misconstrues what the Court must do when determining whether an employee's speech is of public concern. The Court is not tasked with isolating every statement uttered and analyzing its individual content, form, and context. Petition, pp. 10-11. Instead, the Court must examine the "*content, form, and context of the statement, as revealed by the whole record.*" White, supra, at 11 citing Connick, supra, at 147-148. The appellate court here did just that when concluding the content, form, and context of Ryan's blogging – in light of the entire record – constituted speech primarily focused on a private employment grievance, namely Ryan's termination. Johnson, supra at 797. Accordingly, the appellate court did not error in concluding "*the content and context of Ryan's*

speech is primarily a matter of his own private concern and, therefore, is not protected speech under RCW 4.24.525.” Id.

Moreover, Ryan misrepresents the relief Johnson sought below. Petition, p. 10, fn. 2; see Statement of the Case, supra; and CP 5-6.

Finally, Division III’s Decision does not encourage trial courts to disregard speech and focus solely on intent. Petition, p. 12. The appellate court’s Decision relies upon precedent supporting that courts must “*examine several factors, including content, form, and context of the speech in light of the entire record*” when determining whether speech is of public concern and thereafter correctly advises the “*speaker’s intent is also a factor.*” Johnson, supra, at 797.

C. The Court Of Appeals Did Not Err When Considering The Speaker’s Intent.

Ryan disregards precedence in accusing the appellate court of error. Since 1992, when considering whether speech has been made in connection with an issue of public concern, Washington Courts have considered the context of the speech – including the speaker’s motivation. In Edwards v. Dep’t of Transp., 66 Wn. App. 552, 560 (Div. II, 1992), the court specifically stated “[i]n order to distinguish between speech involving matters of public versus private interest, this court must determine the intent behind the employee’s speech and then determine

whether the employee meant to raise an issue of public concern, or merely intended to further a personal interest.” Likewise, the U.S. Supreme Court has made clear the focus of the speaker’s conduct should be the public interest rather than a mere effort ‘*to gather ammunition for another round of controversy.*” Connick v. Myers, *supra*, 461 U.S. at 148.

Additionally, in Snyder v. Phelps, 131 S. Ct. 1207 (2011) the U.S. Supreme Court emphasized the public concern inquiry must be highly fact specific, taking into account “*all the circumstances of the case,*” including what was said, where it was said, and how it was said – which indisputably includes intent. Id. at 1216. Indeed, when considering the context aspect, Chief Justice Roberts turned to the history of Westboro Baptist Church’s speech and the sincerity of the beliefs of its members. “*There was no preexisting relationship-or conflict between Westboro and Snyder that might suggest Westboro’s speech on public matters was intended to mask an attack on Snyder over a private matter.*” Id. at 1217. Here, when considering the context of Ryan’s speech, Division III rendered a much different conclusion than the Trial Court given the preexisting conflict between Ryan and Johnson.

The appellate court here did not commit error when considering Ryan’s intent, particularly given that he admitted purposefully bringing his private employment dispute to public light in order to benefit himself. “*I*

have waged an all-out PR war against a former employer!"; "I just want what's owed to me and my family so that we can walk away from this nightmare and never give it another thought for as long as we live." See fn.1 and **civildoody.com** 2/1/13 blogpost "Next to Normal." Contrary to Ryan's assertions, consideration of the speaker's intent has existed in Washington since 1992 and has not resulted in any "catastrophic" restraint on speech.

D. There Is No Conflict With Division I.

Division III did not err when relying upon Washington and federal precedence in concluding Ryan's speech was not about matters of public concern. In that regard, this Court has already determined California law does not control interpretation of RCW 4.24.525 as Ryan suggests. See Henne v. City of Yakima, 341 P.3d 284 (2015).

In Henne, this Court found that while the Washington and California statutes at issue had "*some similarities, the laws also have significant differences*" including the legislative purpose of the statutes. Id. at 289. Moreover, this Court emphasized "[o]ur legislature thus phrased its finding more narrowly than California's." Id.

Here, our legislature's use of "*public concern*" rather than "*public interest*" in RCW 4.24.525(2)(d) renders California case law interpreting matters of "*public concern*" unpersuasive. In choosing the term "*public*

concern” over “*public interest*,” our legislature was clear about intending that the term “*public concern*” convey its ordinary meaning. See Ellingson v. Spokane Mortg. Co., 19 Wn. App. 48, 56-58 (1978), (the words “actual damage” were determined to convey their ordinary common law meaning since the legislature expressed no intent for them to convey a different statutory meaning).

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